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Abstract 
This review presents unique information rarely seen in a description of a politically extreme right 
wing terrorist. During the trial following the terror acts in Norway on July 22nd 2011, the author, a 
forensic psychiatrist was at the time engaged by a national Norwegian newspaper to comment on 
the court proceedings. The author has later thoroughly gone through all available background 
material such as the terrorist’s childhood, relationship to his mother, childhood psychological 
evaluation, the interviews made by the forensic psychiatrists and information from the police 
documents. This information is shared in the review. The author also discusses how it was possi-
ble for two pairs of court appointed experienced forensic psychiatrists to arrive at completely dif-
ferent conclusions. One pair concluded with insanity due to Paranoid Schizophrenia and the sec-
ond pair found no signs of psychotic disorder at all and concluded with Narcissistic Personality 
Disorder. The court found the terrorist capable to stand trial and sentenced him to 21 years in 
preventive detention with 10 years to be served before the possibility to apply for an appeal. 
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1. The 22 July Terror Acts: Background and Consequences 
Norway was struck by an outrageous act of terrorism on 22 July 2011. First, the centre of Oslo, including gov-
ernment buildings, was hit by a car bomb, and later a terrorist executed young members of the labour party’s 
youth organisation at an island camp outside Oslo. Within 189 minutes [1], 77 persons lost their lives. Several 
survived, but had been marked for life. 
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The court engaged two forensic psychiatrists (FP-1) who, after examining the murderer, concluded that he 
was suffering from insanity due to paranoid schizophrenia as defined by the World Health Organization Inter- 
national Classification of Diseases Version 10 (ICD 10) criteria [2].  

Norway is familiar to a certain extent with events involving dangerous psychiatric patients and inadequate 
hospital security measures. In the past, there have been cases in which psychiatric healthcare treatment programs 
have not managed to treat and follow up the most dangerous psychiatric patients adequately. The collaboration 
between psychiatry and the legal system has, in some cases, failed badly in protecting the general population 
from such severely ill patients. A growing distrust in psychiatric health care is emerging in Norway, and after 
the insanity conclusion was presented by FP-1 in the Anders Behring Breivik [ABB] case, this frustration and 
distrust were further encouraged. A public debate on psychiatry’s actual role in forensic settings and current 
practice has followed. During the debate, the court decided to appoint two additional forensic psychiatrists [FP-2] 
who concluded that the murderer had no signs of insanity or psychosis, but was a political extremist suffering 
from narcissistic personality disorder [NPD] and traits of antisocial personality disorder [APD]. A recent paper 
reported on how these issues were handled by the court in the verdict [3]. 

2. The Terrorist Anders Behring Breivik 
2.1. Childhood  
In 1981, ABB’s mother [4] applied for childcare assistance for her two children, but especially for her son, who 
was about 2 years old. After separating from her husband in 1980, she was exhausted having to raise the two 
children as a single parent. The boy was described as very challenging, and a resource family where the children 
lived during weekends was offered. Later, for a period during 1983 and 1984, the mother once more asked for 
assistance because she felt that her now 4-year-old son was hyperactive, passive and clingy [5]. The family of 
three was admitted to the family department of a children’s psychiatric hospital for about three weeks, at the end 
of which a psychologist recommended that custody of the 4-year-old boy should be taken away from his mother. 
It was argued that the boy was in need of a foster home because he had become contact avoiding, anxious and 
passive, but with evident restlessness. The child had also developed strategies for getting out of difficult situa- 
tions, e.g. what was described as a self-imposed avoidant smile [5]. The psychologist also reported that the boy 
had difficulties with expressing himself emotionally, and that he was passive when playing with others. Despite 
maintaining some elements of pleasure and joy, he had an almost total lack of spontaneity [5].  

During court proceedings in the spring of 1983, the father asked the court to grant him custody of the children. 
This was based on advice he had received from the family department of the children’s psychiatric hospital who 
stated that unchanged, continued care provided by the mother would most likely increase the boy’s risk of de-
veloping “serious psychopathology” [6]. In contrast to this, the local public childcare employees basically found 
nothing wrong with the mother and her two infants. The father lost his case and no longer pursued his claims. 

From the forensic report written by FP-2 [7], it is known that ABB visited his father in the south of France for 
three weeks every summer for some years. He was under crossfire from his parents, being constantly reminded 
by his mother that his father was an avaricious “criminal” and by his father that his mother was “the crazy one”. 
The report [7] also mentions that the mother had several boyfriends during ABB’s upbringing. Two of these be-
came stable father figures, from whom ABB sought support. 

Some of the detailed information about the relationship between mother and son in 1983 was initially pre-
sented during the 2012 court proceedings. Later, the court prevented publication of this information in the media 
on the grounds of the mother’s right to privacy. What is known from the present author’s personal notes from 
the proceedings is that a psychologist found reason to suspect that the mother transferred her sexual frustrations 
onto the boy. 

ABB also confirmed that he once bought a cake and a dildo as a birthday gift for his mother after her rela- 
tionship with one of her lovers had ended. Unconfirmed information from ABB’s contact with a foster home 
states that ABB had been encouraged by his mother to touch the foster father’s penis in order to observe how it 
reacted. According to the foster parents, this emerged after a statement from his sister claiming that she had been 
encouraged to do the same by her father.  

2.2. The Mother and Son Relationship 
In a recently published book [8], the author chose to publish some previously censored information. In brief, 
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ABB’s mother had been admitted into psychiatric care several times due to problems related to emotional insta-
bility and later paranoid delusions and hallucinations. She originally wanted an abortion when she became 
pregnant with ABB, but failed to submit an application before the legal limit. During the pregnancy, she felt that 
the unborn child was a difficult foetus due to its general activity, especially its kicking. The latter was perceived 
as being something the foetus almost did on purpose. She stopped breastfeeding him after 10 months because 
she could not bear his aggressive sucking which she perceived and consequently described as something de-
structive. According to the mother, as ABB grew up he became more and more demanding. Other terms used by 
her were that her son was “hyperactive and clingy”.  

When ABB was 2 years old, she expressed her fears of what he might do, especially to his sister. The chil-
dren’s psychiatric hospital wrote that they considered her incapable of meeting her son’s needs for clarity and 
structure. The 2-year-old’s response to his mother’s ambivalence was described as being a devious smile and 
sometimes laughter. She explained that when she slapped him he always responded by saying that “It didn’t hurt, 
it didn’t hurt”. Also, the staff at the kindergarten observed that ABB did not cry. Nor did he show other signs of 
pain when expected, e.g. after a fall. The mother expressed that she wanted “to peel him off me” and that she 
had a death wish in his regard.  

How much the 2 - 3 years old perceived of his mother’s thoughts and ideas is impossible to know. After being 
captured following the terror acts ABB said that “it would have been better if my father and his new wife had 
won the custody case”, referring to the court’s ruling when he was around 4 years old. He also made statements 
like “My mother is not intellectually capable…”, “Women don’t understand the concept of honour” and “90% of 
them are emotionally unstable”. Likewise, “Fathers should automatically be granted custody of children because 
those who control the cradle control the world”. 

The children’s psychiatric hospital also wrote that ABB was a victim of his mother’s aggressive paranoid 
projections and fear of sexual intimacy with men in general. Furthermore, as part of the communication between 
mother and child observed, the hospital described how they lived in a physical symbiosis—as if mother and son 
were united in one body. “After they were left on their own, Anders for some time slept in his mother’s bed with 
close body contact” [8]. There is no concrete evidence of an incestuous relationship between mother and son, 
but the hospital refers to an episode in which the mother, in a somewhat “rejectful” manner, allegedly told her 
son to go and have sexual activity with a person outside the family. In this regard, the link between sexual abuse 
and the potential development of a pathological personality has been established and described [9].  

ABB’s mother visited her son in prison before she died in 2013. He was not allowed to attend her funeral.  

2.3. Adolescence  
The contact between father and son ended in 1995 when ABB was around 15 - 16 years old. In the same period, 
he was caught twice spraying and tagging trains in Oslo. The police closed the cases and no charges were made.  

A police file from 1994 states that ABB did not admit any guilt but agreed to assist in removing the graffiti.  
The childcare authorities also opened an investigation, but it was closed shortly after and filed as “nothing 

further to pursue”. School reports [7] state that a teacher described ABB as a person who defended himself in- 
tensively and somewhat out of proportion, when, for example, he was late for class. The same teacher associated 
ABB’s behaviour with the reactions of someone living with an almost irrational and constant fear.  

ABB performed reasonably well at school. During the court proceedings, friends from school described ABB 
as an intelligent and physically stronger man than his classmates. He was also the one who helped those who 
were being bullied [10]. In ABB’s mind, looking good was equal to looking strong. At one point, he started 
weight training and enhanced his progress by using steroids [11]. 

ABB went to high school from 1995 to 1998 but did not graduate. According to a friend interviewed by FP-2 
[7], ABB left high school to start his own business. He had told his friend that he wanted to change other peo- 
ples’ impression of him and that he wanted to be different from the average student. ABB had also explained 
that to achieve this, economic success was a major criterion. ABB had a reputation as a person not to start an 
argument with, but his friend knew of no situations where ABB had actually been violent.  

ABB became politically active on the right wing during the high school period and he used to speak about 
multiculturalism and incompatibility between the Islamic world and Christianity. ABB considered Islam a po-
litical ideology and not a religion [7]. 

ABB claims to have been mentally sane during adolescence, but friends questioned some of his reactions and 
behaviour. There is no information available to shed light on his psychiatric health during adolescence.  
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Having heard all witnesses in court, the overall impression is that ABB interacted with only very few close 
friends during adolescence and that he was happy to be on his own, sometimes for what some people would de-
scribe as long periods, without being more specific. However, there is also evidence that he shared apartments 
with friends for some periods. 

There is no known history of stable girlfriends or partners. In court, some of ABB’s friends disclosed their 
thoughts about how ABB could have lied about intimate relations to try to build an image of being the ladies’ 
preferred choice. There are also unconfirmed rumours about sporadic contact with transsexuals. 

2.4. Adulthood  
At the beginning of his twenties, ABB underwent cosmetic surgery on his mandible, nose and forehead. Ac-
cording to witnesses in court, the results gave him satisfaction [12]. One friend told FP-2 [7] that ABB, at the 
age of around 25 - 26 years, used anabolic steroids and that he was interested in body building. The same friend 
mentioned that ABB was more aggressive in that period and that he occasionally smoked cannabis.  

During the court proceedings, friends and colleagues explained that ABB had had several businesses, some 
profitable and others not. Common to most of his business was that they were short-lived and were associated 
with problems following Norwegian laws and regulations. Among his most notorious activities was a company 
providing falsified certificates and diplomas. This company was shut down in 2006, after which ABB lived on 
his savings. To make his savings last longer, he reduced his expenses by moving back to his old room at his 
mother’s apartment. 

Friends were asked in court about when ABB decided to move back in with his mother. One of them ex-
plained [7] that friends had recommended to ABB’s mother not to let him move back in with her, arguing that it 
was the opposite of doing him a favour. ABB’s argument at the time was that after having worked a lot he 
needed time off to do what he wanted. To ABB, this was not an illegitimate claim but in general no different 
from other peoples’ reasons for taking extended leave. ABB had shared some reflections regarding his child-
hood alone with his mother who had not managed to take proper care of him during his upbringing, referring 
especially to the lack of guidance. He had also explained to his friend that children in general needed a stricter 
upbringing that he had [7]. 

Of special interest during the court proceedings was the question about the existence of an organisation called 
the Knights Templar (KT), an ultra-right wing criminal organisation with around 7 founding members. The po- 
lice had found no proof of its existence but ABB kept insisting that KT was an organisation of which he was a 
founding member. Also of interest was the question of when ABB started to write his manifesto published just 
hours before the terror acts and when he started to plan and prepare for the terror acts. The truth may never be 
known. Still, there is enough evidence to conclude that since 2006 ABB had already made extensive prepara-
tions of which precautions to avoid being caught were an important part. As for psychiatric health issues, there 
is no information about any disorders or problems except for his mother’s concerns that he stayed in and played 
World of Warcraft for days on end. 

2.5. Political Activity and Hobbies 
ABB joined the ultra-right wing party’s Fremskrittspartiet [Fp] youth organisation [FpU] in 1997. There, he ex- 
pressed strong opinions about immigration, but he was never considered to be a potential terrorist or a mass 
murderer. ABB later complained critically that the Fp had become too liberal and too busy with being accepted 
as politically correct in recent years. It is also known that he joined a shooting club in Oslo, which enabled him 
to acquire weapons legally. ABB had no official military training. All he knew about weapons was based on in- 
formation from the internet, from his experience at the shooting club, and from firing guns in isolated places out 
in the wild. During the court proceedings, ABB explained how he prepared for the terror attacks, e.g. by renting 
an isolated farm, registering as a farmer in order to buy large amounts of nitrogen-based fertilizer, and how he 
used specific computer-based instruction programs for firearm practice and training on precision aiming. After 
his arrest, he cynically claimed that these latter mentioned computer programs had been most useful later, during 
the assassination of the summer camp participants at Utøya. 

3. Diagnostic Approach 
Guidance for the forensic psychiatric examination is given by the court. The examination by the appointed psy-
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chiatrists is based on psychiatric interviews and use of diagnostic criteria and psychometric tools like SCID II. 
In this case the four appointed individual psychiatrists, although operating in pairs should make separate inter-
views and arrive at independent conclusions. FP-1 made 13 observations [36 hours] together referring to safety 
measures as the main reason for why the observations were not made independently. Their approach was pub-
licly criticized by colleagues in open court. The second pair of appointed forensic psychiatrists made their ob-
servations separately. The report made by FP-1 offers the psychiatrists’ statements and conclusions. It offers 
very little to quote from the interviews with the terrorist compared to the report from FP-2. Since one purpose 
with this paper was to present a more detailed picture of ABB, direct information from the interviews are crucial; 
which is why the report from FP-2 was chosen as main source. 

3.1. The Forensic Evaluations 
The police’s interviews and interrogations of the perpetrator: The forensic psychiatrists’ interpretations. 

From the FP-2 forensic psychiatrists’ report several interviews were made with the terrorist. From these, parts 
of the dialogue have been transcribed and added to the forensic report. Selected sequences have been translated 
and are presented below. 

From a section of an interview: 
The forensic psychiatrist (FP-2): “I want to inform you that we have not read the first psychiatric report”.  
The terrorist (ABB): “I am quite impressed that you have been able to control yourself in this regard. My im-

pression is that every psychiatrist in Norway has made their comments, because it must be very tempting to do 
so in view of the fact that this is such an important case, so—it is impressive indeed”. 

Talking about the report made by FP-1 [4], ABB said: “My impression was that they specifically selected 
those sources that describe me in the most negative way. Their work was to a large extent based on the tech-
nique of “cut and paste”. My impression, based on reading their report, is that they already at an early stage de-
cided upon what should be the outcome and conclusion. Then they built their case supporting that decision. That 
is my impression after reading it…” 

One of the psychiatrists in FP-2 [7] describes a sequence during an interview with ABB. Parts of this are 
quoted below. 

FP-2: “The media claimed that you presented yourself differently in court when I was present…” 
ABB: “I did not think about that at all. I was myself in every way. If you had known me, then you could have 

foreseen that my presence at the court proceedings would have a great resemblance to a performance. Whatever 
I say is just a formality. My audience is a small group of persons, a few thousand in Europe, but there may be 
more. I am aware that this represents a reality which is too strange for most people. But it is a show… I play my 
part. So, if I say that I expect to receive the war cross with three swords, then, of course I know that I never will 
get it. And, when I say that I expect to be released immediately, I know that this is not realistic. I am just carry-
ing through what I had planned for a long time”. 

The terrorist’s statements on how he is on a mission to save Norway and Europe from islamisation and how 
he considers the Marxist Norwegian government as being responsible for ongoing islamisation in Norway is the 
background for the following. 

FP-2: “But why not just be yourself?” 
ABB: “In a way I am myself because I present a completely different view on the world, a view which has not 

been expressed since World War II. This view is of course known in Japan and South Korea. Much of the ide-
ology I represent is normal in Japan and South Korea. It is all about culture and related politics, but to people 
living in a Marxist society, my ideology seems as strange as it possibly can be”. 

FP-2: “We will not go into this further, but what you claim to be a Marxist society is in fact a social democ-
racy, or at least most people see it this way, don’t they?” 

ABB: “I can of course say it is a social democracy. I can distinguish between the two. However, when I say 
culturally Marxist, what I mean is social democracy as an ideology in which the primary aspects derive from 
Marxism, like equal rights for both genders… This kind of rhetoric is in many ways a kind of management and 
ruling technique I may apply, depending on the situation. For those on the left wing this technique is known and 
used when they stigmatize people as living by a doctrine in which reality is essentially evil. Moreover, we use it 
on those on the left wing…” 

“Are you aware of the 7 questions I asked the other two psychiatrists?” 
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FP-2: “No, but you may pose them”. 
ABB: “It is impossible, in such a huge and important case like 22 July, not to become emotionally over-

whelmed by the facts. Except for a few minor events, it is the first terrorist attack of such dimensions. The psy-
chiatric society has no experience with politically motivated violence. Not including politically motivated vio-
lent persons as a topic in plans for psychiatric studies results in the major problem that psychiatrists don’t know 
how militant nationalists think, how militant Islamists think, or for that matter, how militant Marxists think. This 
thinking represents an isolated world which I believe only a minority of psychiatrists, if any at all, are familiar 
with. It is an unknown and strange world and there are no experts in this field. You are not taught about it in 
school either. I don’t know if you have had the opportunity to study it more profoundly, perhaps you can 
enlighten me?” 

FP-2: “No, not in this field. We follow what happens with the same interest as we would do in any other cir-
cumstances. It is not a specific part of our profession. We have a mandate to relate to, where the questions re-
garding insanity or not, level of consciousness and level of mental impairment are the essentials”. 

ABB says later that: “It is important that you don’t underestimate the knowledge about the mentality of espe-
cially Al Qaeda or other Islamic militants. These militants have been sources of inspiration for both me and 
those few individuals I have associated with”.  

FP-2’s interpretation of DVD (sound only) interview of the terrorist made at Utøya on the afternoon and eve-
ning of 22 July 2011. 

In their approach to the 22 July interview, FP-2 [7] chose to display large sequences from what the terrorist de 
facto said after having been apprehended at Utøya. Furthermore, they included the description of additional 
sounds recorded and their interpretation of what they heard. 

The first interview by the police was performed in a house at Utøya immediately after apprehension and con-
tinued the same evening and the following night. In the background one could hear the noise from the helicop-
ters transporting the wounded off the island. After having listened to the recordings, FP-2 described [7] that they 
were left with a somewhat strange and peculiar impression. They noted that at a time when 69 dead persons 
were still on the island and the nation was paralyzed, ABB was sitting down managing to conduct an almost jo-
vial and sociable conversation. He was friendly and polite answering questions, paying close attention not to 
compromise third parties. He gave the impression of being somewhat agitated. In some sequences, ABB talked 
about his political point of view in a larger context in which he also played a role. His explanations were rich in 
detail and also included some details about his preparations for the terror acts. At a certain point, a situation oc-
curred in which the police expressed a strong desire for information about potential fellow terrorists capable of 
new strikes. ABB on his side focused more on his demands to have access to a computer to offer to collaborate. 

He confirmed that he was responsible for the bombing in Oslo and for the killings at Utøya, but showed no 
signs of emotion in that regard. ABB’s statements about fearing for his own life were understandable in view of 
the fact that during the apprehension, the police were very close to firing shots directly at him, but did not. 

3.2. The Remaining Police Interviews Evaluated by FP-2 [7] 
FP-2 was appointed after FP-1 had finished their report [4]. The police’s interrogations of ABB continued after 
the report from FP-1 [4]. FP-2 therefore had more interviews to evaluate than FP-1. Regarding the interviews 
that were evaluated by both teams of psychiatrists, instead of presenting a summary of their interpretations as 
FP-1 did [4], FP-2 [7] chose to display exact sequences from the police’s interrogations. 

FP-2 describes ABB’s politeness, his initial agitation followed by a calmer period, as did their colleagues [7]. 
FP-2 underline that they never observed any signs of sadness or signs of regrets during the interviews made 
available [7]. ABB is described as being cooperative and giving detailed information as long as it did not in-
volve others negatively. In this case, others are those persons who ABB called mentors and fellow founding 
members of Knights Templar.  

FP-2 state that ABB’s explanations may in part be judged as being unnecessarily detailed, and furthermore, 
that he was easily caught by momentary digressions, but also that he was equally easy to get back on track [7]. 

During some of the interviews FP-2 noticed that ABB, when presenting his global political view and why his 
terror acts were necessary, had constructed a high and grandiose role for himself. Another observation made was 
that each time ABB tried to negotiate, he appeared self conscious and demanding. 

FP-2 describe [7] how in the interviews made during the police’s reconstruction, ABB explained in detail and 
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without any signs of emotional engagement what he did on Utøya. These descriptions are more or less identical 
to FP-1’s version [4]. On the other hand, FP-2’s comments [7] based on the same background material give little, 
if any support to FP-1’s conclusion [4] of “moderate associative disturbances”. 

3.3. Personality Disorders 
In their report, FP-2 [7] state that the terrorist displays symptoms of NPD. This condition is classified in ICD 10 
[2] as among those in category F 60.8. FP-2 also felt that the symptoms found when examining the terrorist jus-
tified a diagnosis of F 60.2 Dissocial personality disorder. In their diagnostic evaluation, FP-2 uses DSM-IV [13] 
SCID II in the context of the ICD 10 diagnosis. This is not without problems and will be discussed later. FP-1  
[4] made no mention of personality disorders in their report. 

To fulfil the ICD 10 criteria [2] for specific personality disorders, a number of general criteria must first be 
met. Table 1 lists the ICD 10 criteria for personality disorders. 

ICD 10 does not specifically define the characteristics of NPD; it is classified as belonging to the category F 
60.8 “Other specific personality disorders”. The following criteria must be met for the diagnosis F 60.8 [NPD]: 
“A personality disorder that fits none of the specific rubrics F 60.0 - F 60.7”. 

DSM-IV-TR (301.81)—The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders fourth edition-Text Re-
vised, DSM-IV-TR, defines NPD as shown in Table 2 and classifies it among the dramatic and emotional sub-
types (Cluster B). 

FP-2 adopted the DSM-IV diagnostic criteria [13] and in the following text taken from their report, symptoms 
from the examination of the terrorist have been tested against the various criteria for classification of the 
DSM-IV axis II disorders: 

Avoidant personality disorder—ABB gives the impression of being unafraid, engaged and secure in social 
situations and he is self-confident, but FP-2 found that ABB is vulnerable to criticism and that he is easily of-
fended. In recent years, he had had very few intimate relationships and has a defensive approach regarding inti-
mate relations. According to FP-2, these evaluations rule out avoidant personality disorder.  

Dependant personality disorder—The fact that ABB has managed to take care of himself despite living at his 
mother’s house for longer periods, his self-proclaimed one-man terror cell, being the leader of an anti-Islamic 
organisation, and finally his planning and execution of the terror acts without involving others, does not support 
a diagnosis of dependent personality disorder. 

Obsessive personality disorder—ABB focuses on details, structures, and how to organize his life. This makes 
him capable of living a life in which he carries through his intentions. His perfectionism may also reach a point 
at which it becomes a challenge to complete what he initially planned. Still, this did not influence his business, 
leisure activities, writing, planning, bomb construction, or other activities. His choice of way of life enabled him 
to focus on different topics at the same time at the cost of spare time for interaction with friends. ABB prefers to 
do things himself. He has been careful with spending money and he is rigid and perhaps also stubborn, but he is 

 
Table 1. ICD 10 criteria for personality disorders F 60. 

G1 

Evidence that the individual’s characteristic and enduring patterns of inner experience and behaviour deviate markedly as a whole 
from the culturally expected and accepted range (or “norm”). 
Such deviation must be manifest in more than one of the following areas: 
1—Cognition (i.e. ways of perceiving and interpreting things, people and events; forming attitudes and images of self and others); 
2—Affectivity (range, intensity and appropriateness of emotional arousal and response); 
3—Control over impulses and need gratification; 
4—Relating to others and manner of handling interpersonal situations. 

G2 The deviation must manifest itself pervasively as behaviour that is inflexible, maladaptive, or otherwise dysfunctional across a 
broad range of personal and social situations (i.e. not being limited to one specific “triggering” stimulus or situation). 

G3 There is personal distress, or adverse impact on the social environment, or both, clearly attributable to the behaviour referred to 
under G2. 

G4 There must be evidence that the deviation is stable and of long duration, having its onset in late childhood or adolescence. 

G5 The deviation cannot be explained as a manifestation or consequence of other adult mental disorders, although episodic or chronic 
conditions from sections F 0 to F 7 of this classification may co-exist, or be superimposed on it. 

G6 Organic brain disease, injury, or dysfunction must be excluded as possible cause of the deviation (if such organic causation is 
demonstrable, use category F 07). 
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Table 2. DSM-IV-TR criteria for Narcissistic Personality Disorder. 

A pervasive pattern of grandiosity (in fantasy or behaviour), need for admiration, and lack of empathy, beginning by early adulthood and 
present in a variety of contexts, as indicated by five (or more) of the following: 

1. Has a grandiose sense of self-importance (e.g., exaggerates achievements and talents, expects to be recognized as superior without  
commensurate achievements). 

2. Is preoccupied with fantasies of unlimited success, power, brilliance, beauty, or ideal love. 

3. Believes that he or she is “special” and unique and can only be understood by, or should associate with, other special or high-status  
people (or institutions). 

4. Requires excessive admiration. 

5. Has a sense of entitlement, i.e. unreasonable expectations of especially favourable treatment or automatic compliance with his or her 
expectations. 

6. Is interpersonally exploitative, i.e. takes advantage of others to achieve his or her own ends. 

7. Lacks empathy: is unwilling to recognize or identify with the feelings and needs of others. 

8. Is often envious of others or believes others are envious of him or her. 

9. Shows arrogant, haughty behaviour or attitudes. 

It is also a requirement of DSM-IV that a diagnosis of any specific personality disorder also satisfies a set of general personality disorder 
criteria. 

 
not a collector of items. Some traits of obsessive personality disorder may be present and may consequently in-
fluence the total score on the Obsessive Personality Disorder Scale, but FP-2 found no support for this diagnosis. 

Paranoid personality disorder—FP-2 concluded that there was no reason to suspect paranoid psychosis based 
on what they had learned and observed. Regarding his friends, ABB revealed no irrational thinking about their 
loyalty. FP-2 also concluded that ABB’s caution and reluctance in sharing information about his terror plans 
with others seems realistic and should not in this case be considered as irrational. Other elements like the fact 
that he often perceives peoples’ comments as threatening and offensive may give an SCID II score close to the 
threshold on this item. FP-2 found that ABB had a score of 3 for 2 of the 7 SCID II items for paranoid personal-
ity disorder. 

Schizotypal personality disorder—is a condition closely related to psychotic disorders. FP-2 found it neces-
sary to thoroughly examine ABB’s behaviour in this regard since FP-1 had concluded that he was suffering from 
F 20.0 paranoid schizophrenia. ABB’s behaviour may in some cases be classified as sufficient for sub-threshold 
scores, e.g. he had had thoughts about having observed surveillance cars with special antennas outside the farm 
he rented. On returning to the same farm, he had once found an open door and concluded that it had been opened 
by others. ABB has never displayed any signs of having had strange perceptions or thoughts about magic and 
there were no signs of superstition or transference of thoughts. FP-2 noted that ABB has a tendency not to let up 
when discussing his political views, but otherwise not. FP-2 concluded that everything concerning ABB’s po-
litical ideas and expression should be considered as being part of belonging to a politically extreme subculture. 

Schizoid personality disorder—FP-2 found nothing that would suggest that ABB suffers from schizoid per-
sonality disorder. 

Histrionic personality disorder—FP-2 found nothing that would suggest that ABB suffers from histrionic 
personality disorder despite the fact that he seems to greatly enjoy other peoples’ attention. The latter is rather a 
narcissistic trait.  

Narcissistic personality disorder—ABB read the first forensic psychiatric report and was most likely influ-
enced by it. He concluded that he is narcissistic, although within a range of behaviour that he considers normal. 
Having reviewed all information made available to them, FP-2 found that ABB has the following narcissistic 
traits: 

1) ABB displays a grandiose ideation regarding his own importance, even if he sometimes tries to moderate 
this. The grandiosity is especially evident in his manifesto and in describing his role in Knights Templar. The 
criterion was met. 

2) ABB had had ideas about his own success and power many years before the terror acts. This became evi-
dent during the psychiatrists’ interviews with him and can also be found when reading the manifesto. The desire 
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for fame seems to be a strong motivation for ABB in general. The criterion was met. 
3) ABB enjoys talking about how he finds it especially motivating to socialize with intelligent persons with a 

similar high status. He underlines his lack of interest in those who, in his eyes, are of less importance. The crite-
rion was met. 

4) ABB is convinced that what he has done is for others to admire, thereby confirming a strong need for ad-
miration. This becomes evident when he is allowed to talk about his political ideology and his terror acts. The 
criterion was met. 

5) The terror acts of 22 July 2011 show that ABB considers he has the right to overrule society’s rules and 
regulations. His reluctance to listen to and discuss other peoples’ views may, in retrospect, be associated with 
his former business activities where he, at times, operated outside the law. The criterion was met. 

6) FP-2 found that ABB had made a conscious and strategic choice when he decided to move back to his 
mother’s apartment and remain there for as long as he did. Despite his statements of having had to pay a certain 
rent, the element of exploitation is recognizable, as is the convenience. The criterion was not fully met. 

7) In his own view, ABB is an empathic person. As reference for his ability to recognize and relate to other 
persons’ loss he used his foreseen and accepted loss of family after having performing the terror acts. There 
were no signs of empathy, remorse or any other emotional signs indicating distress in his statements after the 
terror acts. This became evident during the reconstructions made on the island of Utøya and later in court. Not 
showing empathy he explained is due to his ability to de-emotionalize himself. The criterion was met. 

8) None of the psychiatrists found signs of envy. ABB has accepted that his friends have made careers, some 
having well paid jobs. Commenting on his own unsuccessful career, ABB said that he chose to pursue a certain 
path being well aware of the consequences. The criterion was not met. 

9) ABB is clearly arrogant in his behaviour. His arrogance shows itself in many ways e.g., he always insists 
on being the one with the correct answer. He claims to have read a lot and has no problems with demanding 
recognition for his hours of reading. To him, his efforts are at least on the level of a university degree. ABB has 
shown that when other persons’ opinions don’t fit into his world of ideas, he sets all contradictions aside. The 
criterion was met. 

FP-2 found that 7 of the 9 DSM-IV criteria for SCID II Narcissistic Personality Disorder were met, whereas 5 
would have been sufficient for the ICD 10 diagnosis F 60.8 Other specific personality disorders, narcissistic. 
Furthermore, FP-2 found no symptoms confirming emotional instability. On the contrary, ABB seemed re-
markably stable without any emotional aberrations. In this regard, there is unconfirmed information saying that 
ABB is quite unstable emotionally outside the court room or under observation. 

FP-2 also concluded that ABB fulfilled the criteria for the diagnosis of APD. They chose to apply the DSM 
term antisocial instead of the ICD term dissocial, although these 2 diagnostic systems, to some degree, differ re-
garding the classification of antisocial behaviour. Based on SCID II for Antisocial Personality Disorder, FP-2 
argued that since ABB had no behaviour indicating disturbances before the age of 13 years, the DSM-IV diag-
nostic criteria were not met. Applying the ICD 10 criteria, they found that the diagnosis F 60.2 Dissocial Per-
sonality Disorder was met.  

3.4. The Combination of DSM-IV and ICD 10 for Personality Disorders 
FP-2 [7] do not explain why they chose to test ABB’s personality characteristics against the DSM-IV SCID II 
criteria and at the same time refer to an ICD 10 diagnosis. It most likely derives from the fact that the criteria for 
ICD 10 F 60.2 Dissocial Personality Disorder have never been translated into Norwegian. In addition, there is a 
tradition of using DSM-IV SCID II to confirm suspected, less specific ICD 10 diagnoses, e.g. those clustered 
under F 60.8 as “Other specific personality disorders”. The rationale for FP-2’s choice [7] could also be the as-
sumption that the 2 diagnostic systems overlap and that minor differences are irrelevant. In the past, several pa-
pers have highlighted the incompatibility issue between the DSM and the ICD diagnostic systems. One study 
[14] found that when comparing the DSM-III-R to the ICD 10, 60% of the variance in the personality disorder 
diagnosis represented variance not attributable to the patients. Furthermore, it has also been reported that re-
search results from different studies employing different instruments are not comparable [14]. Another study [15] 
found that only 29% of the subjects received the same primary diagnosis in each of the 2 systems, an observa-
tion perhaps related to the fact that the ICD 10 has a lower diagnostic threshold than the DSM-IV. A study [16] 
concluded that the sources of disagreement between the latest versions of the 2 systems could be traced to dif-
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ferences in the conceptualization of some of the personality disorders, and differences between the criteria and 
the diagnostic thresholds. Other papers have also criticized the use of DSM- or ICD-based clinical interviews for 
the assessment of personality disorders [17]-[19]. In a study on DSM-IV [13] and ICD 10 [2] diagnosis, the least 
concordant pair of personality disorders was antisocial [DSM-IV] and dissocial [ICD 10] [2]. In view of this and 
because psychiatric diagnosis are descriptive and have no hard endpoints, the strength of the diagnosis F 60.8 
remains a matter for discussion.  

3.5. Paranoid Schizophrenia 
Paranoid schizophrenia has a central role in this paper since FP-1 concluded that ABB suffers from this accord-
ing to ICD 10. Table 3 presents the ICD 10 criteria for schizophrenia and the DSM-IV criteria have been added 
in order to make comparisons. The paranoid type features delusions or auditory hallucinations. Symptoms like 
thought disorder, disorganized behaviour or affective flattening are not present in this subtype of schizophrenia. 
Delusions are persecutory and can be of grandiose nature. Finally jealousy, religiosity, and somatisation may 
also be present. The APA DSM-V psychosis work group has recommended eliminating the subtypes of schizo-
phrenia contained in the DSM-IV (“Paranoid Type”, “Disorganized Type”, “Catatonic Type”, “Undifferentiated 
Type”, and “Residual Type”) and subsuming all of these subcategories under one diagnosis, “Schizophrenia”. 

3.6. Severe Psychopathology or Classification of Abnormal Behaviour 
There are several hypotheses that explain the link between severe psychopathology and personality disorder, 
none being mutually exclusive [20]. As for schizophrenia, we have learned that patients with this disorder lack 
emotional and hedonic capacity and are prone to experience negative affect. Furthermore, those who develop 
schizophrenia have abnormal premorbid personalities [20]. 

Studying the impact of specific personality traits on symptomatology, disability and outcomes in schizophre-
nia, it was found that higher extraversion was associated with fewer positive and negative symptoms and less 
subjective distress. Higher neuroticism was associated with more positive symptoms, more severe delusions and 
greater distress, whereas psychoticism had no effect on symptomatology [21]. A general profile of high psy-
choticism, low agreeableness, low conscientiousness and low openness has been shown to represent stable per-
sonality characteristics over time, suggesting that they are not due to acute state effects [22]. Based on research, 
of which selected findings have been referred to above, personality traits seem strongly related to the most 
common mental illnesses. However, how these traits more specifically relate to psychopathology is less clear.  

In the report by FP-1 on ABB [4], there were no indications as to the rationale behind their choice of inter- 
pretation of the behaviour observed. Nor was there any discussion regarding whether their classification of 

 
Table 3. ICD 10 and DSM-IV diagnostic criteria for schizophrenia. 

Characteristic symptoms 

ICD 10 DSM-IV 

At least one of 

Thought echo, thought insertion/withdrawal/broadcast 
Passivity, delusional perception  

Third person auditory hallucination, running commentary 
Persistent bizarre delusions 

Bizarre delusions  
Third person auditory hallucinations  

Running commentary 

Or two or more of 

Persistent hallucinations  
Thought disorder  

Catatonic behaviour 
Negative symptoms  

Significant behaviour change 

Delusions  
Hallucinations  

Disorganized speech  
Grossly disorganized behaviour  

Negative symptoms 

Duration 

More than 1 month 1 month of characteristic symptoms  
With 6 months of social/occupational dysfunction 
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symptoms should be considered within the frames of personality disorders or psychopathology. FP-1 thought 
ABB had grandiose delusions regarding his own role in an extremist universe. He was considered delusional, 
having bizarre and paranoid qualities that went beyond conspiracy notions about an Islamist take-over of Europe 
[3].  

4. Discussion 
4.1. Childhood and Developmental Issues—Lack of Identity 
Growing up with a mentally unstable mother as the only caregiver may have influenced the development of 
ABB’s identity. A psychologist recommending foster care for ABB as a 3 - 4 years old child described the 
child’s lack of ability to play and to interact socially. There were obvious psychosocial problems in the family 
and the father took the mother to court with a custody claim. After the father left, the mother had several lovers 
and ABB became attached to some. Repeated loss of potential father figures may therefore also have influenced 
ABB’s development as a child. 

Following the various testimonies given during the court proceedings, the impression which remains is that 
ABB’s lack of identity gradually surfaced as he grew up. Although a bit blurred around the edges, a picture in 
which ABB had tried to find a place to fit in since adolescence, both socially and professionally, became much 
clearer. Seeking a fortune without any parental guidance or mentorship, ABB dropped out of high school, pre-
sumably because he felt he could do better without formal education. ABB has a history of having started sev-
eral businesses, sometimes operating outside the law. At one point, he joined a right wing political organization 
and tried to make himself a political career, but failed to do so. He also failed to establish relationships on which 
he could build his own family. He joined the freemasons but rarely participated in meetings. ABB adopted ex-
treme political views beyond the established conservative branches in Norwegian society, thereby excluding 
himself from the company of potential ideological companions. He ended up as an eccentric, almost bankrupt, 
moving back in with his mother where he stayed in his room playing computer games for hours and days at the 
time.  

4.2. The Creation of an Identity  
The idea of Knights Templar may have been something he picked up reading the history of the masonry. Cer-
tainly, some of the terms he later used in his manifesto bear some resemblance to the terms used to describe or-
ders and ranks among the freemasons. 

Regardless of whether a terror organisation named Knights Templar exists or not, ABB’s belief in such an 
organisation, even on a fantasy level, underlines his need for something to refer and relate to. Previous research 
on terrorists has concluded that a common denominator seems to be the need for group identification in order to 
strengthen one’s personal identity and at the same time to reduce one’s own and one’s group’s responsibility 
[23].  

There are many ways to interpret ABB’s use of steroids and other performance enhancing substances. Like-
wise, the cosmetic surgery performed on his nose. One way to consider it is in the context of building and creat-
ing an identity as an adult.  

4.3. Performance Enhancing Substances  
Between 25 April and 15 June 2011, ABB used methandrostenalone 40 mg [4 × 10 mg tablets] daily. From 15 
June to 22 July, he used 50 mg stanozolol daily. For 2 - 3 days before 22 July he used a mixture of ephedrine, 
caffeine and aspirin [Ekastac]. Blood samples taken on 23 July 01:37 and at 01:51 showed the following blood 
levels: efedrine 0.2 mmol/L, coffeine 19.3 mmol/L, cotinine 1.3 mmol/L. Efedrine and metabolites of stanozolol 
were found in urine samples. Clinical examination at the time of the blood sampling revealed nothing remark-
able except for psychological stress [7]. Due to allergies, ABB had also taken an antihistamine called loratadine 
for approximately 2 weeks before the terror attacks. Based on the results from blood and urine analysis, there 
were no indications that ABB was under strong influence of drugs on 22 July. 

4.4. The Terrorist’s Behaviour—Interviews—Court Room Appearances 
During the court proceedings, ABB openly admitted that he had adapted his statements in accordance with 
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FP-1’s conclusion [4]. Thus, FP-2 had different conditions under which to conduct their investigations and 
evaluations. ABB did not consider himself to be a psychiatric patient and he used every opportunity to repeat his 
monologue about his political views and aims, emphasizing that his fight was for Norway and Europe aiming to 
save us all from islamisation. Every morning, at the start of the trial when entering the courtroom, ABB conse-
quently raised his right arm in a salute not unlike the German Nazi salute. When he spoke, ABB made it clear 
that his aim was to spread his message to as many people as possible. He tried several times but once it became 
evident what he was going to talk about, he was stopped by the presiding judge. ABB frequently spoke to his 
lawyers and passed them written notes. He sometimes smiled to those present in the courtroom, and during the 
testimonies from the survivors and other victims, ABB sometimes looked right at them. He had made it clear 
that he had no choice regarding what he had done and had no regrets. 

Following questions from the victims’ lawyers and sometimes from the prosecutors, ABB at times had prob-
lems with giving precise answers and he was especially vulnerable regarding his use of historical facts to sup-
port his political views. 

As the days went by, ABB got more and more used to appearing in court. At the beginning, he answered dif-
ficult questions with “I don’t remember” and “I don’t know”, but at a later stage, changed the subject and talked 
about his “mission”. ABB got visibly upset and emotional only once, when he cried during the presentation of a 
montage of some of his propaganda photos accompanied by music. Once he was asked if he felt anything when 
witnessing people crying during their appearance in court. He answered that he had to lock everything out in 
order to avoid emotional reactions. Other times he answered aggressively, especially following questions from 
the prosecution. With few exceptions, ABB seemed unaffected by what was presented during the long trial. 

4.5. The Risk of Under-Interpretation and Over-Interpretation—Differential Diagnosis 
Browsing the literature it is hard to find studies on subgroups of assassins. A publication from 1982 [24] refers 
to a study of presidential assassins in the United States where 4 types of murderers with different personality 
characteristics are identified. Some are driven by personal interest; some are anxious and dysphoric and in need 
of acceptance and recognition. Others are emotionless psychopaths and some are suffering from mental disor-
ders [24]. As for classification of ABB, accepting the court’s decision and thereby ruling out serious mental dis-
orders like schizophrenia is one important step. Perhaps an excessive focus on mental illness has made it diffi-
cult to accept an individual’s right to make free and coherent choices even if it means breaking the law. This 
right is recognized in modern societies as being closely linked to the ability of assuming the responsibility for 
one’s actions accepting the verdict. Regardless of personality, total devotion to a cause or fanaticism may be the 
motive behind terror acts like those seen in Norway on 22 July 2011. We may provide psychological models for 
understanding, but we must avoid always looking to psychiatry in our desperate need for an explanation for 
something we dislike or don’t understand.  

4.6. Being Prepared to Die in a Terror Act versus Suicide—Different Motivation? 
According to Joiner [25], there are two elements which must be present in order for suicidal behaviour to occur: 
The desire for suicide may have two components: thwarted belongingness and perceived burdensomeness. The 
first is a sense of social alienation or a failure to form social bonds, while perceived burdensomeness is the sense 
that one is a burden on persons in their lives. Together, these two elements create the motivational force for the 
suicidal behaviour. Gunn et al. [26] conclude after having studied 261 suicide notes from 1091 consecutive sui-
cides that Joiner’s theory of suicide may apply to only a small percentage of those leaving suicide notes. Joiner 
[25] used suicide notes to provide supportive evidence for the theory. 

In the past, several events have been frequently found to precede suicidal behaviour, i.e. loss events, disrupted 
interpersonal relationships, job problems and financial difficulties, and events related to physical health [27]. 
Whether or not the impact of less negative events should be considered as value-neutral or even as positive, re-
mains inconclusive.  

Brym and Araj [28] question the assumption that suicide bombers are motivated by an unusually high preva-
lence of depression and suicidal tendencies as advocated by Merari et al. [29] [30]. The authors conclude that 
there is reason to question the value of a psychological approach to the study of suicide bombers. They base 
their points of view on interviews with immediate family members and close friends of Palestinian suicide 
bombers. They underline the importance of focusing on the political and social roots of the suicide bomber phe-
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nomenon. 
There is no information about ABB leaving a suicide note. He may have had brief depressive episodes earlier 

in his life, but there is no information to support that he was severely depressed at the time of performing the 
terror acts. ABB explained in court that the night before the terror acts, he spent the night at his mother’s. After 
breakfast he started his preparations. He drove the van with the bomb to the government building area. A few 
meters before he reached the final destination, he made a brief stop reflecting on having reached the point of no 
return. What seemed to be the motivation was allegedly his political conviction that he was the only person ca-
pable of performing the necessary terror acts. ABB later explained in court that when he was about to ignite the 
fuse which would initiate the sequence leading to explosion, he noticed that volatile gas was leaking from the 
950 kg fertilizer bomb material. This scared him since the risk of an immediate explosion after lighting the fuse. 
Despite this, he convinced himself to go through with ignition.  

When apprehended on the island of Utøya, ABB later explained in court that he chose to lay down his weap-
ons when he was addressed by the armed special forces and this despite earlier claiming that he did not expect to 
survive. Once arrested, he was afraid that the police would torture and kill him. ABB later explained that during 
his reflections and thoughts about his imminent death, he felt sorry for his family and friends. 

5. Author’s Comments 
Looking back at what we know about the life of ABB, there are factors contributing to difficulties for ABB to 
create an identity as an independent individual with sufficient self-esteem. Such factors are e.g. being raised by a 
mentally ill mother, where borders regarding physical contact and sexuality are unclear, thereby causing sexual 
ambivalence and identity problems. Likewise, living with a mother who constantly devaluates his father may 
contribute to identity problems. Especially when the mother several times introduced new men to whom ABB 
got attached before she broke up the relationship. ABB at some point took a role as his mother’s caretaker and as 
an adult he once said to one of his friends that it would have been better if he had been raised by his father, re-
ferring to his life with a mother who most likely had been overprotective. As an adult he tried to establish 
something for himself and made drastic decisions regarding his own future e.g. abandoning school, starting en-
terprises based on criminal activity like selling false identity papers. All just to fail and move back to his 
mother’s apartment, avoiding contact with successful friends and playing World of Warcraft for days at the time. 
His attempts to become someone in politics also failed as he lacked the necessary ability to compromise and was 
regarded as too extreme in his views. His lack of girlfriends despite bragging about their existence to friends 
who knew better, must also have undermined his self-esteem. Consequently, there is reason to assume that there 
was a lack of identity in ABB; a lack for which he had to compensate. 

ABB explained in court that he understood that his actions were atrocious but underlined their necessity. He 
also stated during the court proceedings that the future will prove him right and that his actions would later be 
understood. He also expressed that he saw himself as the one who had to choose between lesser evils and that he 
was the only one capable of making such a choice at the time. Despite being contradicted by the victims’ law-
yers, he maintained that he was an empathic person. Such statements have signs of both a self-heroic view and a 
need for admiration. 

During his testimony and explanations ABB was interrupted several times by the judge when he deliberately 
used his given time to talk about his future political and violent aims. Regardless of the judge’s repeated correc-
tions, ABB continued his critical political propaganda. This lack of respect for the court was confirmed by his 
statement where he clearly expressed that he did not acknowledge the court since it was appointed by the domi-
nant party in the Norwegian government at the time. Persons from the public present in the court room reacted 
in different ways to what the terrorist said, one time a shoe was thrown, barely missing the terrorist’s head. This 
made him smile back at them.  

At some point, ABB created his imaginary kingdom where he was the saviour, thereby maintaining his self- 
deception of being successful. Could ABB’s rage be ascribed, at least in part, to the fact that our society failed to 
recognize his narcissistic needs?  

In court, we learned that ABB had submitted newspaper articles but they were refused, thereby supporting his 
notion that no one would listen. ABB has confirmed that in his view our society in general is dominated by the 
left wing; the politicians and the media using all means, including corruption if necessary, to suppress the voices 
of right wing dissidents. Identifying strongly with the latter group, ABB may have felt like a desperate victim. It 
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is also tempting to speculate that ABB, before planning the terror attacks, perceived society as being ungrateful 
when refusing him credit for what he was trying to convey. Therefore, one way to look at ABB is through the 
eyes of a desperate and frustrated man without identity, sufficient social and moral ballast, and with a great need 
of acknowledgement for his ideas. There may be a need to speak up and protest against what is perceived as lack 
of respect, and thoughts about punishment may be conceived. All depending on the choices available, to some— 
after diplomacy, only one road is left open: the use of force. There is a strong impression that ABB had a great 
need to make a difference. In retrospect perhaps also a need for a life commitment—even something worth dy-
ing for? The killings make the element of punishment evident, but there is also the element of self-pity. The lat-
ter is found in ABB’s description of when he, during his execution of the children, first took aim on a victim and 
then lowered his gun when he saw a terrified young man that reminded him of himself.  

Paranoid schizophrenia, antisocial/dissocial personality disorder and NPD were the 3 diagnoses discussed in 
the two forensic reports. Expert witnesses testifying in court argued strongly against the diagnosis of paranoid 
schizophrenia, first of all because the ICD 10 general criteria for schizophrenia were not met. But there were 
also those who argued that ABB had sufficient symptoms to match the requirements for the DSM-IV diagnosis 
[3]. Eventually, NPD and traits of APD were chosen as the final diagnosis. Little attention was paid to these 
classifications since they had no relevance to the court’s decision on whether or not ABB might be insane and 
unaccountable for his actions. Likewise, it had no relevance for his competence to stand trial. 

In any classification and categorization of more or less identical signs there will always be diagnostic overlap 
in the hands of health professionals. The use of specific categorical criteria may yield minor differences. For 
signs to become symptoms, a choice has to be made. Mental health professionals differ regarding which signs 
they eventually classify as symptoms.  

Diagnostic systems may vary a great deal, up to sevenfold—in their rates of diagnosing schizophrenia [31]. 
The currently used diagnostic procedures are associated with a number of assumptions [32] [33] and there are 
notable problems linked to facts, like different disorders existing within the schizophrenia construct. The dimen-
sional nature of a construct makes it difficult to relate to categorical definitions within the same construct [33].  

A study applying a modified and expanded version of the Manual for the Assessment of Schizophrenia [MAS] 
[34] [35] on 660 psychotic patients introduced the term “general schizophrenia factor”. This refers to shared 
factors within the various diagnostic systems based on common symptoms like delusions, formal thought dis-
turbances, hallucinations, and some types of negative symptoms [33]. A study by Landmark et al. [34] empha-
sizes the fact that schizophrenia-related variables show continuous distribution which in turn makes cut-offs 
between schizophrenic and non-schizophrenic psychosis arbitrary. Skeptics [33] have expressed that: “A dimen-
sional construct is consistent with the interpretation that traditional diagnostic systems are the result of both 
drawing artificial boundaries on a dimensional construct and emphasizing [or de-emphasizing] different phe-
nomenological and clinical aspects of the construct”.  

A comparison between the degrees of relationship following application of criteria-based diagnosis—speci- 
fically for schizotypal, borderline, avoidant and obsessive-compulsive personality disorders, demonstrated [36] 
that the choice of assessment methodology may have influenced the clinicians’ ratings with consequences for 
the consistency and intercorrelation measures. Still it was found that these 4 personality disorder subtypes were 
more interrelated with each other than with the remaining personality diagnoses [36]. A study following patients 
with borderline personality disorder (BPD) concluded that among those with persistent BPD there is more co-
morbidity with other personality disorders than in those in whom the BPD had remitted [37].  

NPD is not a separate personality disorder in ICD 10, but it is recognized as a specific entity by the DSM di-
agnostic system. Critics have suggested that pathological narcissism should be described as a range of personal-
ity pathology common to several personality disorders, alternatively as a severity dimension, ranging from nor-
mal assertiveness to pathological narcissism [38] [39]. As for the validity of the DSM-IV construct, a study has 
suggested that NPD taxonomic structure might not be a spurious outcome due to the raters’ biased expectations, 
but that, as a whole, it can be defended to maintain NPD as a separate diagnostic category in the DSM nomen-
clature [40]. With reference to the diagnoses given by the 2 pairs of forensic psychiatrists in the ABB case; i.e. 
paranoid schizophrenia and NPD, many have searched for a plausible explanation behind the different conclu-
sions, including internal weaknesses in the two diagnostic systems used. The diagnosis of paranoid schizophre-
nia was based on the ICD 10 diagnostic system [2], whereas NPD was based on the DSM-IV [13].  

Studying the literature and making the assumption that a diagnosis of schizophrenia in ABB was based on 
observation of brief prodromal signs that disappeared later, one study caught my attention [41]. Studying the 
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symptoms in 29 patients with prodromal schizophrenia, 48% qualified for one or more current axis I diagnoses, 
including cannabis dependence, major depressive disorder and alcohol dependence. Interestingly, 48% of the 
prodromal patients also qualified for an axis II disorder, most commonly schizotypal, followed by BPD. Of spe-
cial interest was that among the 48% prodromal schizophrenics with concurrent axis II diagnoses, none had 
NPD, 17% had BPD and 7% had APD [41]. A study of 461 patients with personality disorder investigated how 
impulsive and aggressive traits related to individual Cluster B personality disorders [42]. It was found that the 
most frequently diagnosed personality disorder (16.1%) was NPD and that emotional components of aggression 
such as anger and irritability were prominent features. Interestingly, this is in contrast to what was found in pa-
tients with APD in whom instrumental aggression [i.e. physical aggressiveness] is prominent. Consequently, and 
in accordance with the findings presented [43], patients with NPD were described as quick tempered and in fa-
vor of activities without strict rules and regulations. The narcissistic patients were likely to lose control and be-
come aggressive when their irritation increased because of low frustration tolerance [43]. Of interest was also 
the observation that patients with passive-aggressive personality disorder were similar to those with NPD re-
garding the propensity to lose their temper [43]. However, in contrast to patients with NPD, the passive-aggres- 
sive patients had a hostile and malevolent view of other people [41]. From the descriptions of ABB found in the 
forensic reports, it is evident that many of the signs observed would fit the description of specific narcissistic 
personality traits. 

Comorbidity between Schizophrenia and Personality Disorders 
Literature on comorbidity between psychiatric disorders and personality disorders and especially the more 
chronic symptom disorders reveal that specific personality disorders are often found [44]. In a recent study on 
comorbid ICD 10 personality traits in schizophrenia, 65.1% of patients with schizophrenia had a comorbid per-
sonality disorder, compared to 19% of the healthy general population. This high comorbidity rate will have a 
significant impact on the clinical and cognitive characteristics of schizophrenia [45], a conclusion in line with 
results from earlier studies emphasizing that co-occurrence of independent psychiatric disorders affects phe-
nomenology, course and treatment [46]. According to studies using standardized research instruments [DSM-III], 
at least 50% of subjects with a personality disorder have two or more co-existing personality disorders [47]-[50]. 

The research done on Cluster B personality disorders and schizophrenia has mainly focused on comorbid 
APD and BPD. One study found that only antisocial personality disorder is significantly associated with pre-
meditated aggression in schizophrenia, whereas the other disorders in Cluster B are not [51]. 

In the case of ABB, some of the signs reported and interpreted as symptoms of paranoid schizophrenia by 
FP-1 might overlap with symptoms associated with BPD. In fact, the latter diagnosis was one of those also dis-
cussed by FP-2. Looking at the comorbidity between schizophrenia and BPD, a study found that about 18% of 
142 individuals with diagnosed schizophrenia had comorbid BPD [52]. The patients with both diagnoses showed 
less improvement in psychiatric symptoms under treatment, particularly for hostility and suspiciousness, but also 
for global functioning. They were also re-hospitalized more often than the schizophrenia patients without BPD. 
Co-occurrence of schizophrenia and BPD is therefore not infrequent, and BPD has a significant negative longi-
tudinal impact on the course and outcome in schizophrenia patients [52]. 

Accordingly, assuming that ABB indeed is suffering from schizophrenia, a comorbid personality disorder 
would most likely lower his level of functioning and attenuate the intensity of his hostility and suspiciousness. 
With few exceptions, evidence of such attenuation was clearly not apparent in court. A few times his responses 
had an aggressive tone. His facial expression, with just a subtle smile, rarely changed, except when he cried 
during the documentation of his self-made propaganda video. When he responded to comments on his lack of 
empathy he claimed that he had to protect himself from his own feelings to maintain emotional control. 

ABB refused to acknowledge what he considered imposed symptoms of paranoid schizophrenia. Thus, only 
the investigator’s interpretations of signs observed and historical descriptions remained. Even though there were 
several months between the 2 observations, the fact that such completely different diagnostic conclusions were 
reached has unsettled many colleagues. Moving from descriptions and observations of phenomena to signs and 
eventually symptoms is a process subject to many different influences, of which experience and personal choice 
of the investigators are perhaps the major fasctors. No inter-rater estimates were incorporated into the two re-
ports on the mental health of ABB presented during the court proceedings. 

The court’s decision of ABB being mentally sane is based on the principle of giving the defendant the benefit 
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of the doubt. The two forensic psychiatric reports were contradictive in their conclusions and essential for the 
court to answer was the question of whether there was an imminent risk that ABB could commit new atrocities 
in case he were set free. ABB said several times in court that he had not finished his work, referring to his terror 
acts. The court was left with no option but to rule against him due to the established imminent threat. In Norway 
the court has to decide between a time limited and a time non-limited sentence. The non-limited sentences are 
two; a sentence to psychiatric treatment for the mentally insane and preventive detention for those found men-
tally sane. In this case on August 24th 2012, ABB was sentenced to 21 years of preventive detention with a 
minimum of 10 years to be served before he would be entitled to appeal the court’s decision. If he after 10 years 
demands to have his case reopened, the court must once more answer the question of whether there is an immi-
nent risk for new atrocities or not. If yes, the court will have to prolong the sentence. 
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